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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Wednesday, August 17, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 1:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Today's the third day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This afternoon, hopefully we will complete examination of issue 3, transactional services, and begin hearing issue 11, EnVision.


Are there any preliminary matters, Mr. O'Leary?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Just a couple, Madam Chair.  First, you will recall that Mr. Shepherd raised with the panel the other day questions about those witnesses that would form part of the company's policy panel, which will be appearing next week, Policy O&M capital.  


And I can advise the panel that the witnesses will consist of Mr. Jim Schultz, who is the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution; Mr. Scott Player, who is the vice president of finance; Mr. Glen Beaumont, who is the vice president of engineering; and Mr. Tom Ledanyi, whom you're all probably very familiar with, having appeared before, as well.  Mr. Ledanyi is manager of budgets.  


And we are presently photocopying the curriculum vitae of each of Mr. Schultz, Player and Beaumont.  Mr. Ledanyi's already appears in the pre-filed evidence, and that should be here shortly.


The second preliminary matter is the witnesses have had a chance to review some of yesterday's transcripts, and I am advised that there are two corrections that are required, if I may.


Mr. Charleson, I understand that at page 40 you've identified the need for a correction to the transcript?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have.  And on page 40, at the paragraph that begins at line 5, in that paragraph it indicates ‑‑ the transcript reads that:  

"Also the new transactional services methodology, which has been agreed to and I just described, creates a great deal of uncertainty."  


The next sentence begins:

"It is clear as to how counter-parties will respond."


That should read:  It is unclear as to how counter-parties will respond.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Again, at page 56, Mr. Charleson, I understand you have identified another inaccuracy.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  On page 56, beginning with my response at line 11, where it indicates the weather was probably one I highlighted, but it also would be market prices or basis differentials at different market points, and the transcript reads:  

"And that doesn't fluctuate from year to year." 


And it should be:  It does fluctuate from year to year.


MR. O'LEARY:  Those are the only corrections that we have identified to this point, Madam Chair, and with that the panel is available for continued cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Millar, you didn't have any preliminary matters?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, I just have one question, perhaps, whether or not the résumés for the policy witnesses will indicate whether they perform other roles for other Enbridge companies, including the parent company?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm afraid we're not in a position, not having them immediately before us, to respond to that at this time.  Perhaps my friend would prefer -- or if he could defer it until later today, perhaps when we could deal with it at that point.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Any other preliminary items?  According to my notes, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Dingwall, you're going to be examining this panel; is that correct?  Do you have a preferred order?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I will go next.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 1; RESUMED

Don Small; Previously Sworn

Dave Charleson; Previously Sworn


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Charleson, Mr. Small, these questions are primarily for you, Mr. Charleson, I think, although, Mr. Small, please feel free to jump in at your leisure.


The ‑‑ let's start with, I guess, a basic understanding.  In transactional services, Mr. Charleson, you only use excess assets.  You use storage or transportation assets that are surplus to the needs of the distribution company at that time; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  At a point in time, we have assets that are fully required to meet the needs of the distribution system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So my point is you don't acquire any storage or transportation assets for the purpose of doing TS transactions?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are ones you have acquired for the needs of the distribution customers, but you find them excess?


MR. CHARLESON:  At the points in time they're excess, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not excess because of bad planning; right?  They're excess because the nature of how you plan your asset acquisitions for your distribution businesses, you have to have some leeway.  You have to have some reserve for the normal fluctuations?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  We need to be ‑- we have to plan our system to be able to manage peak-day demand, which requires ensuring that you have adequate transportation capacity to meet those peak-day conditions, and also having adequate storage facilities to be able to meet your winter balancing needs throughout the course of the season.


So at points in time, your storage will only be full at certain points in time, and the rest of the time you have either drawn it down, making space available, or you're in the process of filling it, which still leaves some space available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're already acquiring these assets anyway, the storage and transportation anyway, for the distribution -- ratepayers' needs.  They have already paid for these assets, right, the costs of -- 


MR. CHARLESON:  The costs associated with those assets are included in the revenue.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is included in rates; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you don't have a TS program, then those assets will simply go to waste.  The costs will be wasted; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  If we weren't able to conduct transactional services activities, it's true there would be no incremental revenue generated from the use of those assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just as an aside, you wouldn't actually be allowed under your undertakings to acquire assets for the purpose of transactional services, would you, because then that would be entering a different business than the distribution business?


MR. CHARLESON:  I can't say with certainty, but it is my understanding that that would be the case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that you can only use distribution business assets, as far as you know?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's my understanding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is it correct to say that Enbridge operates its gas distribution business in Ontario with the goal of achieving the lowest reasonable rates for its ratepayers?


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, I missed the very beginning of your question.  Maybe you could repeat that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct to say that Enbridge operates its gas distribution business in Ontario with the goal of achieving the lowest reasonable rates for its ratepayers, as one goal?


MR. CHARLESON:  It is one of the goals.  However, one of the other critical goals is ensuring we also operate a safe and reliable system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it always surprises me when EGD employees think that lowest rates is one of the company's goals, so what I want to do is I want you to read -- I want to read you the official mission statement of Enbridge Gas Distribution, not the parent company; Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This is what it says:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution is dedicated to creating superior value for our customers and attractive return for our shareholders and a fulfilling work environment for our employees.  We are committed to building profitable, sound and sustainable growth on the foundations of a solid and secure business."  


There is nothing in there about low rates, is there?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, perhaps you can first indicate the source for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your official mission statement.  It's on your website.


MR. CHARLESON:  That's fine.  I just don't have a copy in front of me, so I don't have the wording to be able to comment directly.  But I think the ‑‑ if I ‑‑ you can correct me if I get this wrong.  I think it indicated looking to create -- is it value for customers?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Superior value for customers.


MR. CHARLESON:  Superior value for customers.  We would entail that achieving superior value for customers is ensuring that the customers are able to achieve -- or receive gas distribution services in a safe and reliable manner at the lowest reasonable cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So we should assume that that concept of superior value balances out lowest possible rates with reliability, with safety, all of those things; is that right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think that is probably a reasonable interpretation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I want to read you -- if you take a look at K2.5 filed by my friend, Mr. Thompson, yesterday, this is the EBRO 492 decision.  Do you have that?


MR. CHARLESON:  I have that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at page 57 - the numbers are at the bottom - in paragraph 3.3.1(1).


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?  So the first sentence of that ‑‑ the second sentence goes on to a different issue, but the first sentence says, and I quote:

"Board Staff supported Ms. Chown's view that the company has an obligation to minimize the cost of facilities to its customers especially if they can be used to generate alternate revenues to be credited to the ratepayers."

So just stopping there.  Do you agree with that principle?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'd say that, generally, yes, I do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- and then, in fact, whenever the company can achieve savings for ratepayers for -- operating more efficiency -- efficiently, using new technologies, your corporate philosophy is to do that, if you can; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is, within the realm of reasonable management attention.  And I guess the reason for that qualifying statement, and as we've indicated before, with regards to transactional services, the management -- management's principle focus is on assuring that there is a safe and reliable distribution system, and ensuring that there is adequate supply to meet the needs of its distribution customers.  That is the principle focus.  

     And I would say that our obligation is to, when we talk in regards of this obligation that you’ve pointed to, it is in the context of meeting those management objectives.  To the extent that further value can be received for ratepayers through additional initiatives, additional attention or focus beyond that, then that is an additional benefit that ratepayers can receive.  But I see that as being something that potentially extends beyond what this statement -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess it’s -- and maybe I'm misunderstanding what you're saying, so help me if I'm wrong.  It sounds like what you're saying is management focuses on safety and on reliability, on security and supply and, if management then has time, it will try to keep the costs down.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I wouldn't agree with that characterization.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then, maybe you could re-describe what you're saying, because I --see, I thought superior value was a sense of balance in which you -- in which all of those things, including low rates, are balanced out, and they're all management's job; isn't that right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  If you can just give me a minute, I'm -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Certainly.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- I’m hoping I can point you to something in our evidence that may help to clarify.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  So again, perhaps, if you can turn up our response to CME Interrogatory No.12, which is found at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 12.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm.  I have it.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  You’ll see in the start of the second paragraph of that response, it indicates that Enbridge Gas Distribution continually strives to provide distribution services to its customers in a safe, secure and cost-effective manner.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well that doesn't really answer the question.  I --

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’ll -- I’ll continue.  I just want to give the -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the panel an opportunity to find that.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, very much.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  So, again, as I indicated in that response, the first sentence of that second paragraph indicates what the company is striving to do.  And how the management is -- and it goes on to describe how the management is focused on these key responsibilities.  Now, within there, it’s indicating that this is looking to be done in a cost-effective manner.  We want -- and the following paragraph talks more to what -- how the TS activities fit within there.  

     So we see this as a means of realizing enhanced value for these assets, but it shouldn't detract from the focus on the core distribution responsibilities.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so let me just stop you there.  So this activity, it's not a core activity.  That's why you need to treat it differently; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We view it as something that goes beyond the core activities of the utility, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, you had it outsourced to another company exactly for that purpose; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We had the administration of the activities outsourced to another company -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- but the responsibility or accountability for transactional services always remained with the utility.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the people who were doing it, they were all in another company; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But now you're bringing them back in.  That sounds like you’ve decided that it's core again.   

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, even prior to the function moving out to Enbridge Gas Services, there was resources within Enbridge Gas Distribution that had responsibility and performed the transactional-services activities.  And, as I indicated before, even when it moved to Enbridge Gas Services, where they acted as our agent for it, it was still something that was viewed as being a function performed -- it was a utility function that was being performed.  We see it as it was related to our gas-supply activities.  

     It was -- but we -- it's not viewed as a core-gas supply activity, but it was an extension of those gas-supply activities, where the resources that participate -- that are involved in gas-supply functions are best-suited to manage the -- or administer the transactional-services activities.  

     Ultimate management responsibility and accountability within the organization always remained with EGD.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well it's interesting you say that, because there’s a lot of things that there are outside experts that do better than you.  Like legal services, for example; right?   Most of your legal services you actually have done outside.  You go to third parties and you say, You're the experts, this is your core business, you look after this for us.  But you still retain responsibility for it; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this transactional services wasn't different than that at all; right?  You went to EGS who -- it was their core business, and you said, You're the experts, you do it; right?  And -- but we'll retain responsibility. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's fair. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But now you’ve changed that.  Now you're moving it back into the company, so that now -- but it's not your core business, still; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We still see the outcome of the transactional-services activity as being something that extends beyond the core function of providing safe, reliable, cost-effective distribution service.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason why you have an incentive, for example, in DSM -- the justification has always been that it's really counter-intuitive to what you do as a distribution company.  Distribution companies try to grow load, and DSM is trying to reduce load.  So you need an incentive to think that different way.  

     How is this similar to that, if at all? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I want to be cautious in terms of trying to draw parallels between the DSM incentive and

--

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- what we're talking about here.  But in terms -- when we're looking at an incentive related to transactional services, because it is something that is, say, outside of the core management responsibilities, say, the core focus of the utility, again, there is -- an incentive helps to say stimulate management attention towards looking at these non-core activities, looking for opportunities, in terms of the way that it may balance or manage the -- say, the core functions, while still being able to deliver some sort of -- some additional value back to ratepayers.  So that incentive helps to -- and I think as I described it yesterday, it's to kind of go beyond the -- say, the normal course of what the responsibilities would entail.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm going to come back to that in a second.   But just -- I'm still at the basic why you need an incentive at all.  And I guess, if you don't want to compare it to DSM, where most people agree with the need for an incentive, I would then compare it to something like the EnVision project, clearly something new and different.  The components of EnVision -- a lot of the components of EnVision clearly outside of what you do normally, and yet nobody is suggesting you get an incentive for doing that.  Why is this different than that? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, I don't see -- my understanding -- again, I'm not an expert on the EnVision project.  I have a general understanding of what the project is designed to do, but my understanding of EnVision -- it is so that there is tools in place to help us manage our core distribution functions more effectively.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So automating -- largely automating the work-management function is core.  But ensuring that distribution assets are not wasted is not core?  Is that the distinction you're making?  I'm just -- I’m trying to get to the distinction you're making between one way of driving down costs and another way of driving down costs.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I don't think I've ever said that the transactional-services activity isn't a means of driving down costs.  Okay?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Enough of that.  You said that part of this mind share thing is about getting people to go beyond their normal performance.


And, in fact, if you look at that same CME Interrogatory 12, I3-12, on the second page, if you have that still there in front of you?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says:

"The purpose of providing a financial incentive to Enbridge Gas Distribution is to have its management extend itself to achieve greater value for its assets.  While the company cannot provide a specific threshold for this incentive, it needs to be material enough to attract attention."


That's what you meant, right, when you were talking about getting people to go beyond their normal performance?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, under the old system, you had to achieve a certain minimum level of TS gross margin before you could get any incentive; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you're planning to change it, so that ‑‑ now what you're talking about is less like an incentive and more like sort of sharing the benefit; right?  It's like a partnership with the ratepayers?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't understand why that wouldn't be viewed as an incentive.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it is an incentive, but conceptually you're going to sort of a partnership-type model; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, as opposed to a model that looks to potentially penalize.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And now you've done pretty well under the old incentive for the ratepayers and for the company; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say there's been significant benefits, predominantly for the ratepayer, but also for the shareholder from the ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're proposing to increase it by what would have been last year about $5 million, the amount to the shareholder?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, maybe you can point me to how you are arriving at that number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you ended up with about $5 million from the 75:25 split, so presumably it would be $10 million; right?  I don't know.  You have it in the evidence somewhere.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I'm just trying to ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's about 5 million more; 5.4, perhaps.  If you look at I8‑91, page 2, I think that has it.  Shareholder benefit:  Actual 4.8, proposed 10.6.


MR. CHARLESON:  So under the actual sharing mechanism last year, there was a benefit to the shareholder of 4.8 million, so, yes, about $5 million; correct.  I just wanted to, again, ensure that I ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I would have had the reference, Mr. Charleson.  I thought these numbers would be top of mind with you.


Under your proposal, not only is the percentage increased, but you don't have to achieve any performance threshold anymore; no minimum.  From the first dollar, the shareholder gets half; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's our proposal.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  But even with the old incentive, there would be some gross margin, wouldn't there?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I think, as we discussed yesterday with -- I believe it was with Mr. Thompson, there will be ‑‑ there would be some revenue generated.  I think the difficulty we have is in forecasting what that level of revenue would be, given the various uncertainties that we've discussed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's fair to say that the management attention you're talking about, that's really only needed to maximize the benefits to ratepayers and shareholders.  It's not needed to get some, at all.  It's needed to get it as much as possible; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the proposal you're making is to incent from dollar one, and I guess that sounds to me - and maybe I'm just spinning it the wrong way - like giving an employee a performance bonus for doing their day‑to‑day job without any stellar performance at all.  Why would you do that?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think the first thing -- one thing to clarify is what -- we're talking still about the operating and maintenance costs being recovered, so there is $800,000 that has to be recovered first.  But then beyond that, you're correct, any revenue generated beyond that point becomes shared.


In terms of the incentive going from dollar one, given the uncertainty that we face around the revenue forecast, it's why we believe that for there to be an incentive that truly has potential to be material enough to attract that management attention, there is a need to start the sharing, without some form of guarantee in there; also, because of the risk, that we see some form of ratepayer guarantee potentially penalizing the company for -- in a market where it may not be able to control the outcome or the value that it can receive for those assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Enbridge Gas Distribution has an employee bonus program; is that true?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, there is an incentive plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those bonuses, they aren't paid just because you come to the office.  They're paid because you meet certain pre-defined thresholds or goals during the course of your work here; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  All employees have targets that they're expected to achieve.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you miss your targets, you don't get any bonuses; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  It can impact the size of your bonus, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't get a bonus at all if you miss all your targets; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  If you missed all of your targets, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But if I understand what you're saying on that question, the question of a threshold, you're saying that the problem is not so much ‑‑ tell me if I'm wrong.  The problem is not so much whether it's appropriate to incent superior performance as opposed to normal performance, but, rather, it is just hard to set the threshold; right:  It is hard to create a budget and hard to have a target, because everything is so uncertain?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, that's particularly hard this year - for the 2006 year - because of all the changes to the rules; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There is a lot of ‑‑ I think there is six or seven items we went through yesterday that we saw as having an impact and making it difficult to do that forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I heard yesterday, and tell me if I'm wrong, is that there are a bunch of uncertainties that are normal to the transactional services business, like weather and stuff like that.  Then there are other uncertainties that were created by the change in the rules, and I got three of those. 


Tell me whether I am right:  Getting rid of bundled commodity, a new method of making assets available to the market, and the special rules dealing with curtailments and interruptibles.  Those are the three; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree with those three.  However, the other two that I would also include within there is, first, the trend towards unbundled rates, something new, and that's not normal market operations.  That's reflecting a shift in the market.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've already said that won't have any significant impact in 2007; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't believe I indicated that for the trend towards unbundled rates.  The timing of when customers may become interested in unbundled rates, when they may start to take up some unbundled rates ‑‑ and I know the issue around unbundled rates is still to be heard in this proceeding -– um -- but given that we already have some unbundled rates available, there is the potential at any time that customers could start to look to use those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  I would expect it to be a lesser impact within 2006, and then the other external factor which we have indicated doesn't have ‑‑ we don't expect to have an impact in 2006 is the increased gas‑fired electricity generation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So neither of those really significant impact -- in fact, as I understood what you said yesterday, the interruptibles and curtailment issue doesn't really have a significant impact in terms of uncertainty, and so the only two that ‑‑ didn't you agree with Mr. Thompson that it was a very small number?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, I didn't agree with that.  What we indicated yesterday is we didn't see it having an impact on transactional activity that we may be able to do in the January to April time frame.  


However, it could have a significant impact on the transactions we're able to do in the, say, November ‑‑ November, December time frame of 2006, because given the structure of the settlement agreement, there's the potential that there could be a review of the manner in which we unwind transactions after the upcoming heating season, which could lead to us being unable to enter into firm transactions because of risk of unwinding, which would have a direct impact and likely material impact in the fall of 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I must have missed that.  I checked the transcript and I didn't see it, but all right.  We've got it now, anyway.


But it's true, you did give evidence that the -- by far the largest factor in this uncertainty is the fact that you won't be able to do bundled commodity transactions, right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's the most significant factor that we've -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- identified.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you went to some length with Mr. De Vellis yesterday talking about that.  And if I understand correctly, you're likely to lose $7 or $8 million of gross margin because of that?  Compared to 2004. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Compared to 2004, that was the estimate.  And that’s -- but that assumption was made based on the existing methodology still being used.  So when you later on -- it's difficult to understand what the impact -- the combined impact of, say, the loss of commodity and the new methodology.  Assuming that we were still operating in the manner that we operated in 2004, it was our estimate that we would still receive some value from those assets that had previously been bundled with commodity.  Whether you would still see the same value or the same portion of value under the new methodology is uncertain.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And yesterday, you also talked with Mr. De Vellis and others about the new methodology.  And I guess -- I didn't hear an explanation from you as to why you think that new methodology might result in less activity rather than more.  

     I understand that there’s uncertainty.  You can't predict it, because you haven't used it.  But I would have thought the uncertainty would be how much more you got, not how much less you got.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I think, when we’ve talked about the uncertainty related to the new methodology, we have acknowledged that it could go in either direction.  You could see less activity, if counter-parties aren't comfortable with the timing or the manner in which the auction application puts the assets out for bid.  

     You may receive less value.  While you may have the same amount of activity occurring, you may get less value for those assets, because they may only bid at the floor price.  And again, depending on the timing of when -- because there is a prescribed timing for when the auctions occur, it may mean that assets are being offered at a point in time in the day when there is less value than, in the past, we may have offered those assets up.  You can't do the same potential optimization of the timing of when you may make an asset available, and when you may approach other parties, or when other parties may approach you for the use of those assets.  

     Similarly, there is the potential, that, yes, you do get increased activity, that you do get the -- bids that end up coming in higher than what you may have seen in the past, from the way that we were -- from the value we were getting for the assets. 

     So there is that - there is an upside potential, but there is a downside risk, as well.  And that's -- without knowing which way it's going to go and it’s -- I know -- I wouldn't want to assume it's going to land in the middle.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the current method, and this is, I guess, fairly standard in the industry, you have a group of - or you, EGS, but then you - have a group of what you might call “deal guys”, who are constantly on the phone with the deal guys at the counter-parties, talking about who has got what, who wants to trade what, et cetera; right?  And so there's sort of -- there’s an informal network constantly going on.  Is that true? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say that's an -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- 

     MR. CHARLESON: -- accurate representation. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the thing you're concerned with is that, if you back off and make it less personal, you’ll get less deals.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's a concern that we have, that you may get less deals, that counter-parties may not be as comfortable, or may not be looking to go to the web, that they're going to be looking more for, Who else am I talking with and dealing with on a regular basis?  

     It’s like -- again, the response or the reaction of the counter-parties is a big question mark that remains to be seen. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But this business, this trading in transportation capacity and storage capacity, it's a very bottom-line-driven business; isn't it?  It's very money-oriented.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would say there is a heavy focus on the margins you can get, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have any particular reason to think that these guys that you're talking to on the phone all the time will suddenly stop thinking about the money, because they have to go to your website instead of talking to you on the telephone; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would hope that's not the case --  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- that remains to be seen. 

     MR. SMALL:  Just one other thing, that could be a problem, too, is, a lot of times those margins are very fleeting.  So, if you're opening it up to a series of bids and there’s a bid window, those opportunities could be eliminated.  So they may want to think twice about whether or not they're going in.  So that could be another factor leading into fewer transactions. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well that -- but what happens in auctions, particularly in web auctions, is - and anybody who has been on EBay knows this - you play the game:  you wait and see, at the end of the window, how -- what the price is going to be like; right?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, but the difficulty you face, I would say, in the gas market is, you're not bidding on a static -- on a -- say, a static cost-base.  

     It's not like you're bidding on, you know, a video game that you know you could go to the store and buy at any point in time for $25, so I'm willing to bid to $23.50 or $24 on eBay to get.  You're looking at something that, at the time it’s posted, it may have a value of $2.  Ten minutes prior to close it may have a value of $3.  At close, it may have -- just minutes prior to close, it may have a value of 50 cents.  The market moves around. 

     So if you're not in a -- where we’re not operating in a prescribed manner or prescribed time- frames, there is the opportunity where you may be -- where, when you're dealing with counter- parties, you can look and say, Well, I see there's kind of a peak happening, or, There's some value that is showing up for that asset right now, let's get a deal done.  You know, where you can offer it up and try to get that value right away, where you're able to find a party that may be thinking the value is going to continue to grow.  So, instead of going from $3 back down to 50 cents, they think it’s going to go to $4 or $5.  So they're willing to pay you that $3.  Whereas with the auction, they're going to be looking at, What is the market condition right around the close of bidding?  So the value for that asset fluctuates.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The last area I want to talk about, briefly, is rates -- last, but certainly not least.   

     Your current rates - 2005 rates - include a credit for 8 million in TS revenues and 0.8 million of O&M excluded from rates; right?  Currently.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  The only, I guess, clarification I make on that:  it's not .8 in 2005, it's .7. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry, .7.  So 8.7 million, then --there's 8.7 million less that you're collecting from the ratepayers this year than you would have under your proposed methodology; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’d say it’s $8 million, because the .7 comes -- again, and maybe because I'm not familiar with the way the accounting flows on this, but the way that the sharing formula works is, there’s $8 million that's guaranteed to ratepayers today, in the 2005.  So that, in our revenue requirement, the $8 million was baked into the 2005 rates.   

     The next $2.7 million was the account of the shareholders.  So any -- so the next 2.7 -- so that wouldn't -- I don't believe that would appear anywhere within our rates.  It's just, prior to booking revenues into the transactional-services deferral account, you had to surpass $10.7 million before you start to calculate a benefit for the ratepayers.  

     So I don't think it’s the 8.7 that changed to the rates.  It’s just a matter of when the -- say, the TS deferral account would start to see revenues being booked into it.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well let's -- I mean, we're quibbling a bit, but let's try to nail down the 700,000 -- it's still $700,000.  The fact is you spent $700,000 on O&M, and you don't charge it in rates; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.  That's to the account of the shareholder.  The shareholder is at risk for that amount.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And under your new proposal, that -- what is now $800,000 will, in fact, be built into rates; right? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so will the 8 million.  It will go back into rates.  That credit will be gone. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct, but I think, as we discussed yesterday, the ratepayer -- you know, if the revenues -- or, if there is a sharing of $8 million to be provided to the ratepayers for -- coming from 2006, the ratepayers will still see those amounts.  It’s a matter of the timing of when they receive the benefit.  There’s not a guarantee built into 2006, but the sharing of the -- coming from the transactional-service deferral account would be paid to ratepayers when that account is cleared, with interest.   

 
MR. SHEPHERD:  The new methodology you're proposing involves an increase in rates of 8.8 million dollars; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Within 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's just under 1 percent of distribution rates; is that about right?  In that range?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, I can't comment on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only reason that you're ‑‑ I understand the only reason that you want to increase rates by that amount is because of the uncertainty of forecasting a threshold; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  I wouldn't say that's the only reason.  Obviously one of the reasons is we believe, because of the uncertainties that are in place, that there is a need to revisit the sharing mechanism, which leads to that increase in the rates.  However, we believe by revisiting the sharing mechanism and putting -- implementing the sharing mechanism that we believe is fair for both ratepayers and the shareholder, that it provides the best long‑term rate protection for our ratepayers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have to ‑‑ the company has to forecast a lot of inherently uncertain things in its regulatory filings, right, various costs that are inherently uncertain?  For example, you know what incidents are?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm not going to talk about incidents, but incidents are hard to forecast; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you still have to do that.  It has to be in your budget; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Capital projects, you have to forecast the timing for approvals of them, environmental approvals and regulatory approvals; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's hard to do, isn't it?


MR. CHARLESON:  There can be challenges, but -- there are some risks associated with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But even though you have -- those things and many others are hard to forecast, you still do forecast them and bake them into rates; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  I'd say the difference, though, that we're looking at here is to the extent that that forecast does or doesn't materialize, any earnings or any -- say, any impact that happened, any amounts that differed from that, either accrue 100 percent to the benefit or detriment of the shareholder.  There is no sharing on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you under-forecast incidents and so you have higher costs in the test year, the shareholder eats them; right?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.  And if we over-forecast incidents, the shareholder keeps 100 percent of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are our questions.  Thank you.  Sorry for going over time.  I got carried away.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Dingwall?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Well, I hope I can be as much of a boon to the Nielsen ratings for the broadcast version as Mr. Shepherd, but I will try to keep it within my time limit.


The first of my questions will relate to document K2.7 and the final section of that.  The pages aren't marked, so I'm going to ask you to go four pages from the back.  What the document should be is a process flow describing what the bid process for transactional services will be under the new methodology for the test year.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  That's what that ‑‑ what the flow chart depicts.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's great.  I'd like to start off with a "yes".  With respect to this process, I take it that prior to step 1, asset identification, that's when the excess assets are determined, and then released to transactional services, before step 1; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I would say step 1 is when the assets are identified and released for the purposes of transactional services.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So step 1, transactional services, the group has assets that they are then to dispose of?


MR. CHARLESON:  Step 1 is where you look at the reports; you look at the information that is available and identify what assets are available for the purpose of transactional services.  Whether that is done by the transactional services person, the gas supply person, it's done ‑‑ under this methodology, it will be done within EGD.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, prior to ‑‑ just so I understand, prior to this function being repatriated to EGD, the identification of excess assets took place outside of the transactional services group, so the decision was made by one group, and then the assets were then communicated to and then disposed of by transactional services; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't know if that's entirely correct.  It was done within Enbridge Gas Services, within, say, the utility services part of Enbridge Gas Services.  And whether the individuals that were involved in doing the transactional services deals also participated in the review of what assets may be available -- I believe they did play a role in participating in some of the identification, just by the nature of the group working and looking at what may be able to be done.  


But, again, it was all being done within Enbridge Gas Services.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So once effectively step 1 has occurred, the next step is that a floor price is established for the assets and that the assets are then posted to the web; that's correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And then I'm not going to take you through each step.  We don't have that much ‑‑ or I don't have that much time.  But, effectively, the process continues in a mechanistic fashion until bids come in, hopefully.  Bids are reviewed.  One bid or more bids are accepted, and then acceptance is communicated to the successful parties?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  It seems to me like what we're dealing with is a fairly mechanistic process.  Would you agree with that categorization?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree that once the assets have been posted to the website, it does become quite mechanistic.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, just as a question of interpretation, which we have talked about briefly offline yesterday, the unsolicited bid process does not, in any way, coincide with or compete with the posted bid process, does it?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.  The ‑‑ I'm just trying to see whether ‑‑ I believe this was something that we had reflected somewhere within the methodology.  I just can't find it right now, but the process is that unsolicited opportunities cannot be considered until the completion of the bidding process and the awarding of success ‑‑ awarding to successful bidders.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe that is in the third paragraph under "unsolicited opportunities" on the next page.


MR. CHARLESON:  You found it faster than me.


MR. DINGWALL:  I have a time limit.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree that there is very little discretion in the execution of a transaction under the bidding process on the part of EGD?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, moving away from that for a moment, Mr. De Vellis asked you very briefly about the structure of the new transactional services department.


Are there any individuals within that department who would have cross-functions with other departments, or would these be completely dedicated employees?


MR. CHARLESON:  The individuals dealing with transactional services, their principal focus would be on transactional services activities; however, they would, also, from time to time, assist on some of the other gas supply activities.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would there be competition between the functions for their time?


MR. CHARLESON:  Only at the time when coverage for vacations, absence, illness and activities -- we run a very lean organization, so when you have absences, there is a need to provide coverage, and we may rely on the person providing the transactional services -- performing the transactional services activities to help to cover off some of the responsibilities of other people within the gas supply group.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that knowing how lean and efficient an organization you run, Mr. Charleson, that that would not, of itself, detract from the ability of the individuals charged with the transactional services functions to perform those functions?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, it should not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So there would not be any corporate competition for resources, in terms of the manpower associated with the mechanistic process, that would detract from the performance of that process?


MR. CHARLESON:  Right.  For the line execution functions, I would agree.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  What I am seeing here is that we've got a process which is kind of plug and play.  If you build it, hopefully they will come, and hopefully they will spend money and hopefully there will be money that we can all fight about at the end of the day.  


What I'm trying to understand, though, is how it is possible, once this process has been built -- how it is possible that management challenges or focus could impact the success of this.


MR. CHARLESON:  I think some of the things that I've identified, as we've worked through this issue, include -- there are decisions that can be made, in terms of the manner in which we manage our overall gas-supply activities.  The manner in which we manage our storage activities, the manner in which we manage our transportation capacity, where the use of the assets that we do need -- we have the assets that we need to meet the requirements of customers, as I discussed with Mr. Shepherd.  We don't have excess assets there.  

     However, the manner in which you deploy those assets, the manner in which you, say, fill storage, which pools you fill, the sequencing of storage, the manner in which you deploy your transportation assets, can lead to, say, additional transportation -- or, transactional-services opportunities that may not otherwise exist.  And it's our position, with the lack of an appropriate incentive, it’s easier for, say, the management level to look for the more conservative route, say, the path of least resistance, in terms of using those assets.  

     But with an appropriate incentive, there is something that can lead them to stretch, in terms of the way that they view the use of the assets.  You know, if we look at even, you know, the topic that we spent some time discussing with Mr. Thompson yesterday, the use of firm transactions instead of interruptible transactions, where there may be some risk associated with unwinding costs, where there is -- but by reviewing those types of opportunities and authorizing those opportunities, it can create additional value for ratepayers.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Are there any plans by Enbridge Gas Distribution, in the test year, to change the way in which it is seeking to manage assets for system needs?  We've had discussions in the past year about various policies that have been in place.  Are ^there changes in those policies which are contingent upon Enbridge Gas Distribution gaining a share of transactional-services revenues? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, there are not.  We continue to look for, What are the assets that we require to be able to meet the needs?  What I am talking to is the timing and manner in which you use those assets.  

     The assets are required to be able to meet the demands of distribution customers.  The way in which you operate some of those assets will vary from year to year.  It varies based on market conditions.  It varies based on weather conditions.  And one of the other factors that -- we say, that you should vary in there, as well, is the way you can look at where you can create transactional-services opportunities, without causing an increase to the other supply costs.  

     So again, the first commitment on transactional services is that it does not increase the cost to customers for their gas-supply costs.  But, if there’s alternatives or manner in which you can use those assets that does not increase the cost, but may vary from year to year, depending on conditions, you're going to take those actions.  And that’s part of the management attention, part of the “going beyond” that we're talking about.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in this filing, have there been -- has the approach, in terms of asset-planning related to the test year, been to have opportunities for transactional services?  Or has it been the other approach that you just discussed? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  The approach for our planning has been to ensure that we have the assets that are needed to meet the distribution needs.  Transactional-services activities are not factored into our planning of the assets that we require.  It's once we have the assets that we require, we then look at what can be done to optimize the value from those assets.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I understand that, in this case, there's also a proposal for the change -- or for some changes to the way in which the company addresses risk management.  

     Are there any impacts or potential impacts on the availability of assets for transactional services from the mechanics of these proposals? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  None that I can think of.     

     MR. DINGWALL:  Following up on Mr. Shepherd's questions, would you agree with me that, for all of the assets which are being sold through this process, the bidder-notification time is within ten minutes of the close of the bidding for short-term assets?  And I believe that’s reflected in the timetables, eight pages from the back of the last exhibit that I mentioned.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  In the case of day-ahead assets and intra-day assets, it is ten minutes following the close of bidding.  For longer-term assets, it’s 30 minutes after the close of bidding. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  So if there are fluctuations in the market, it is really, potentially, only a 10-minute period that potential bidders would have to worry about, for shorter-term assets. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Depending on when they submitted their bid.      

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay. 

     There's been lengthy discussion about factors which make it difficult for the company to provide anything but a best-efforts forecast for transactional-services revenues for 2006.  Do you see any or all of those factors continuing into 2007? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would see the majority of those factors continuing through to 2007, probably the two that don't continue, the first being the elimination of the bundled-commodity transactions.  We will -- by that point in time will have had the -- we will, at least, understand the impact that we've seen, or how the market is working in the absence of those.  

     The second would be that we would have gained some experience, in terms of the way the methodology will perform.   The only caveat, I guess, to that -- to the removal of that is that there is -- the methodology still contemplates a review of the methodology following, you know, gaining a year's experience with it.  So it may be subject to additional changes which could still continue to introduce new uncertainties related to the methodology.  

     But in terms of market changes, weather, that's always going to be with us.  Gas-fired electricity generation will increase, in terms of potential impact, as opposed to reduce.  The interest in unbundled rates and service, again, I would expect to see continuing to increase, as opposed to reduce.  

     So I think -- and so I think the -- there's still a number of factors that will continue to leave a degree of uncertainty -- a significant degree of uncertainty on a go-forward basis.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So, given that, a year from now, are we going to be in a position to determine whether the new methodology has been effective or ineffective? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I guess some of that will be -- will depend on how “effective” and “ineffective” is defined.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. Millar, do you have any questions for the panel? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I will be very brief, Madam Chair.  But, before we begin, I wonder if Mr. Dingwall could indicate on behalf of which client his questions were. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Mr. Battista reminded me that of a note today, when I raised the point myself. 

     In this hearing I'm acting for both Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters and the HVAC Coalition.  Their interests in this hearing are quite distinct, so on each occasion when I’m in the hearing, it is well-definable.  It’s not as if they're sharing costs on issues, as that may be a question to arise later.  HVAC’s interests in this hearing are limited specifically to the CIS issues and issue 9.19.   So, for the balance of the hearing, including my cross-examination today and my cross-examination which was completed by others yesterday -- those were in respect of CME.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Madame Chair, my friends amongst the intervenors have been very thorough in their examinations, and I only have, really, one area that I’m going to be touching on, fairly briefly, so I think we will be just about on target for our one-hour, plus or minus, to wrap up the TS issues.  

     Mr. Charleson -- or Mr. Small, or whoever wishes to the take the questions, just by way of recap, as I understand it, the company is proposing two broad changes to the transactional-services methodology.  

     And the first of those is the sharing mechanism which would change from 75:25 in favour of the ratepayer to 50:50.  And it would also start at the -- I guess it would be the $800,000 and first dollar, rather than -- now it’s at 10.7 million is where the sharing mechanism kicks in.  That's the first part.  


The second part is that the TS revenues would be taken out of rates where they currently are and they would be instead tracked in a deferral account?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would agree on the ‑‑ with the ‑‑ on the first part.  With the second part, there are already transactional services revenues that are tracked in the deferral account.  It is just the amounts that are in excess of the 10.7 million, so the treatment of them would still remain the same.  It is just a matter of when you start booking them to the deferral account.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.  But in your proposed methodology, all of the transactional services revenues would be tracked in a deferral account?


MR. SMALL:  Not until you have achieved the .8.


MR. MILLAR:  After the $800,000.  Thank you.


MR. SMALL:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I recall in your evidence yesterday, and I believe it was under cross‑examination from Mr. De Vellis, you indicated that you were hoping that this proposed new transactional services methodology would be in place for a number of years?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Our hope is that the outcome of this proceeding will lead to ‑‑ lead to something that we believe is a fair sharing mechanism that can be in place for a number of years, and that was part of the reason, as well, for identifying the uncertainties that extend beyond the test year, so that those might be considered when looking at the sharing mechanism so that -- you know, our hope would be we're not having to re-visit this year after year.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Although this is the case for 2006, obviously you're not looking at a one-of.  You want this ‑‑ this would become the new status quo, essentially?


MR. CHARLESON:  That would be our hope, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you familiar with the Board's Natural Gas Forum report?


MR. CHARLESON:  Many aspects of it, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have some excerpts from the report that I propose to refer to.  I provided a copy to my friend yesterday, and I think I actually saw it was on your table as I walked by.  I would like to enter it as an exhibit, and I will provide copies to the Board and I have some spares, if anyone wants them.  It's just a couple of excerpts.  


Mr. Battista, could we have an exhibit number?


MR. BATTISTA:  Exhibit No. K3.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  EXCERPTS FROM NATURAL GAS FORUM REPORT

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Battista, I guess we can call this excerpts from the Natural Gas Forum report.


So, I'm sorry, have you read the report in its entirety?


MR. CHARLESON:  I have, but to be honest, my focus on the incentive regulation piece has been somewhat cursory.  My principal focus on the Natural Gas Forum report had been centred around issues on storage and supply.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Small, have you reviewed the report?


MR. SMALL:  Most of my focus, like Mr. Charleson says, has been on the storage and the gas supply.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I've provided you just with some excerpts of the executive summary, and then there is an additional page at the back.  But I guess I will start by asking:  I assume you're aware that the Board is proposing to move away from a cost-of-service model and move towards a multi‑year incentive regulation program for the regulation of gas utilities?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I am aware of that.


MR. MILLAR:  And some of the key aspects of that plan, I think you will see them in the executive summary.  I don't propose to go into them in any detail, but we would be looking at a three- to five-year term; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's my understanding.


MR. MILLAR:  And there would be some form of annual adjustment mechanism?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And there wouldn't be any earnings sharing mechanism over the course of the plan?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's my understanding --


MR. MILLAR:  And ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  -- of the current proposal.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  There would also be a rigorous re-basing at the end of the plan's term; is that your understanding?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's my understanding of what the report indicates.


MR. MILLAR:  So that's at a high level.  I guess that is my summary of incentive regulation, and I didn't provide the whole report, but those topics are covered, at least briefly, in the excerpts I've given to you.


Are you aware that it is expected that 2007 may be the first test year for the incentive regulation plan?  I don't think that has been set in stone by any --


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  There's been, I think -- I've heard different years and different interpretations, in terms of when kind of the rules may be in place and when the plan may kick off, but 2007 I guess is one of the years that I've heard.


MR. MILLAR:  If not 2007, then perhaps 2008 or as late as 2009?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So the rates that are established in that year - let's assume it's 2007 - under the proposals of incentive regulation, that would carry on for three to five years?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I'm wondering if you can answer this.  To what extent did this soon-to-be-implemented incentive regulation model influence your decision to seek a new methodology for transactional services?  Did that have any influence?


MR. CHARLESON:  It had no influence.  The evidence that we prepared and filed in this proceeding was done so prior to the issuance of the Natural Gas Forum report.  So we had no indication as to the direction the Board may be taking with regards to incentive regulation.


What we looked at was something that we felt needed to be addressed at this time, with the hope, again, whether there is incentive regulation or not, that it would last more than a year.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that the regulatory treatment of revenues from transactional services becomes more important when we get into a multi‑year plan, whether it be incentive regulation or some other plan, and by which I mean to say is, currently the numbers are baked into rates.  And if we have a multi‑year plan, I guess we don't know exactly what the plan would look like, but presumably, or at least maybe, those numbers would be locked in for three to five years.  They would be locked into rates?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, potentially.  I guess the area where it's uncertain it is how different deferral accounts may be dealt with under an incentive plan, whether there's still exceptions or exclusions regarding the treatment of certain deferral account balances.  We've seen in the past some differences in terms of the treatment of a -- say, an excess earnings mechanism and the transactional services, I think, in ‑‑ again, I don't have specifics, but looking more -- I think Union's recent -- I think for 2005, and I'm probably getting into dangerous territory here going off of vague memory, but my understanding is that there was a difference between the sharing of excess earnings and the sharing of excess transactional services revenue.


So whether an incentive regulation plan would look to treat all -- all, say, revenues in a consistent manner would remain to be seen through the development of the incentive plan.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So to be fair to you, we don't know exactly what the plan would look like?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  But would you agree with me that at least potentially this issue could become more important when we're talking about a multi‑year plan?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I agree it could become more important.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could direct your attention to the last page of the handout, and it is marked at the bottom page 31.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I have that.


MR. MILLAR:  About a third of the way down the page, you will see a bold and italicized paragraph.  I will read it out.  It says:

"In the Board's view, an appropriate balance of risk and reward for an IR ..."


That's incentive regulation:

"... framework will result in reduced reliance on deferral or variance accounts, and reliance on off-ramps or z-factors in limited, well-defined and well-justified cases only."


Do you see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I see that.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me -- I would be interested to hear your thoughts on this.  How do you think that the Board's direction in this regard meshes with your proposal to create, in fact, an additional deferral account, one that doesn't already exist?


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I would question the creation of a deferral account that doesn't already exist.  The transactional service deferral account has existed for a number of years, and we're just looking for that to continue at this point.


In terms of this conclusion from the report, I think it still remains to be seen whether that is the final action or direction that the Board takes.  It's my understanding that the development of an incentive plan will be subject to some further regulatory processes, whether it be consultation, generic hearings, and the outcome of those processes may lead to a ‑‑ the Board to a different conclusion.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's correct.  This isn't set in stone yet, and I do take your point that -- I think I misspoke.  The deferral account does currently exist, but you are proposing on changing when we start recording revenue in it.  In fact, it will now be recorded in that account, $12.7 million, before what it is currently recording.


MR. CHARLESON:  I think the number you meant to say was 10.7.


MR. MILLAR:  10.7, pardon me.  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, assuming we generated that much revenue.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  But we certainly would be seeing a change in the deferral account?


MR. CHARLESON:  Change to the timing of when values are recorded, but, in essence, the nature of the deferral account would remain the same.


MR. MILLAR:  The nature may be the same, but the amounts recorded in it would be greater?


MR. CHARLESON:  All depends on the revenue.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, is it possible that less money could be recorded in the deferral account?


MR. CHARLESON:  It's quite possible.  Last year we would have recorded ‑‑ in 2004, we would have recorded 10. -- or $11.1 million in the deferral account, because of our -- because we had 21.8 million in total revenue.  

     Given the -- our best guess, the deferral account balance this year, I think it would be significantly less than that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right, but it would still -- what I mean to say is, if you look at the way the deferral account is run currently, and the way you're proposing, you would never have -- if you compared those two models, you would never have less money in the deferral account under the current model than you would under the proposed model because you’d start putting money into it after the first $800,000. 

     MR. SMALL:  Well, I think what Mr. Charleson is trying to suggest is that it's all going to be predicated upon the amount of transactional-services revenue.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  

     MR. SMALL:  So if, for whatever reason, you're unable to achieve a fair amount of revenue, that's going to dictate what goes into the deferral account, to start with.  So, if your revenues were only $5 million, for example, then you're going to have a lot less in the deferral account, even with a 50:50 sharing. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right.   But the deferral account, as it’s currently set up -- if there were only $5 million in transactional-services revenue, there wouldn't be any money in the deferral account.  Is that correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And under the proposed methodology, you would have money -- 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  -- in the deferral account. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

     Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

     Mr. O'Leary, are you ready for re-examination? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, I am Madam Chair.  Thank you.  Just a couple of questions.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O’LEARY:

     MR. O’LEARY:  Mr. Charleson, Mr. Thompson asked you yesterday to calculate, based upon the forecasts which the company has included in the filings, the amount that would be to the credit of the shareholder in respect of 2005.  And, if memory serves, you indicated that that figure, based upon the forecasts in the filings, 3.3 million.  

     Do you have a similar estimate as to what amount would be payable, in total, to the ratepayer? This is for 2005.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  For 2005?  If there was -- the 3.3 million was to the benefit of the shareholder, then you would be looking at -- just give me one second.  

     My estimate would be approximately $12 million, but that is with some quick math on a piece of paper.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  And you may also recall that in, 2005, we had what has been affectionately referred to as the “stub period”, which takes the -- for regulatory purposes, the year-over-year consideration of rates to a calendar year.   So we will actually have a 3-month period in 2005.  

     Can I ask you if, all things are equal in terms of the forecasts which you gave to Mr. Thompson, and now to me, you -- can you advise the Panel what amount would be recorded in the aggregate, both the TSDA and to the benefit of ratepayers, in respect to that 3-month stub period?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well I think the challenges -- we haven't spoken to what the forecast may be for that stub period.  The forecast that's reflected in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38 reflects the regulatory year -- so, the old fiscal year.   The stub period, again, we haven't forecast that.  Our forecast at this point in time for the stub would be that we will be able to achieve the -- say, the 25 percent of the $10.7 million that the sharing formula dictates as the starting point.  So to the account of the ratepayer there would be $2 million.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Shepherd indicated to you that -- or put to you questions about the -- as he viewed it, the impact of removing the guarantee and moving the O&M portion of T and S into rates for 2006, and suggested that that would result in a hit of $8.7 million.  Do you remember questions of that nature? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.  And based on your comments there, I might want to correct something that I said a few moments ago and, perhaps, you can clarify for me. 

     Was your original question on the 2005 related to the balances that would be in the deferral account, or the total benefit that the ratepayers would receive from transactional services in fiscal 2005? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I was looking for the total --

     MR. CHARLESON:  Both -- 

     MR. O’LEARY:  -- both the combination of the -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- of the guarantee and -- 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Okay, then the 12 million. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Was correct?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.

     MR. O’LEARY:  That actually leads me to -- I guess you were guessing where I was going, then.  But my question is, is the 8.7 million that Mr. Shepherd has suggested to you will be the impact on the revenue requirement for 2006 -- does that take into account the impact of the 2006 transactional-services deferral account, assuming that one is approved, and there are amounts recorded in it?  In other words, what is the net impact? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It does not take into consideration any balances that may be in the transactional-services deferral account.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And finally, in respect of 2006, if, in fact, the company's forecasts prove to be overly optimistic, and the actual revenues are less than 5 million, and there has been an amount that has been baked into rates which exceeds that amount, what would you describe the result from the shareholders' perspective? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Well, from the -- any shortfall is to be -- is borne by the shareholder, which, obviously, leads you to question the value of trying to extend your business to pursue transactional services.   

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  

     Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  

     Oh, I just have one -- I apologize.   It's not a question, but you may recall that Mr. Thompson yesterday took Mr. Charleson and Mr. Small to a number of the decisions that the Board has made in respect to transactional services in the past, and also referenced a number of settlement agreements.  And you may recall - and I can take you to the citation - but he said it was subject to check.  I just wanted to alert you, Madam Chair, to the fact that we may avail ourselves of that opportunity to check those decisions, to ensure that they are correct.  And you may or may not hear from me again on that point.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. O'Leary.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  The Board Panel doesn't have any questions for this panel.

     So I think, with that, we thank you, gentlemen, very much.  It's been a long couple of days and you can step down now.  

     What we will do is take a break for -- can we do it in ten minutes?  For ten minutes and get back together at 2:30 with the new panel.  Does that work, Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  That should be fine.  And I beg your leave, and you will be joined by Mr. Fred Cass this afternoon. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 2:20 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:30 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


MS. NOWINA:  Welcome back, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Are you ready to introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There are five witnesses on the panel that will address the EnVision Project.  I will ask that they come forward and be sworn, and perhaps I will introduce them in order for the benefit of the Board.  


The five witnesses are Mr. Arunas Pleckaitis, Ms. Janet Holder, Mr. Lloyd Chiotti, Ms. Catherine McCowan, and Mr. Dennis Bruce.  So if those five people could be sworn, then we can proceed with the evidence.


ENVISION PANEL 1:


Arunas Pleckaitis; Sworn


Janet Holder; Sworn


Lloyd Chiotti; Sworn


Catherine McCowan; Sworn


Dennis Bruce; Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Just for the benefit of board, Madam Chair, before we begin, the EnVision issue is, of course, issue 11 in the settlement proposal.  There is some scoping language for the Board on that issue, in the settlement proposal, as was referred to on Monday of this week.


Generally, the Board can find the pre-filed evidence at Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedules 1 to 4.  Of course, there are a number of interrogatory responses, but I won't endeavour to list those.


So with that small amount of background, I will ask each of the witnesses a question to have them identify themselves to the Board.


Starting with you, Mr. Pleckaitis, could you please tell the Board your position with Enbridge Gas Distribution and your role on this witness panel?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.  I'm vice president of operations.  I took over the responsibility, actually, from Janet Holder, who is my predecessor as vice president of operations, in about December of last year, and in that capacity, I have the executive responsibility for the successful delivery of the EnVision Project.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you.  And, Ms. Holder, what is your position and your role on the panel?


MS. HOLDER:  I'm currently the vice president of market services for Enbridge Inc., and my role on this panel is with respect to the reviewing of certain interrogatories relating to matters that pertained to my role as vice president of operations in 2004.  I was asked by Enbridge Gas Distribution to join this panel to assist the Board in reviewing any matters related to my responsibilities as the vice president of operations in 2004 and to provide some continuity between 2004 and 2005.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chiotti, what is your position and your role on the panel?


MR. CHIOTTI:  My position is general manager of the EnVision Program.  I have been involved with EnVision from its inception in 2003.  I have been largely responsible for preparing and overseeing the preparation of the evidence that's been filed.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Ms. McCowan, same question for you, please.


MS. McCOWAN:  I'm the manager of operation services, and I have responsibility for the benefit utilization plans associated with EnVision and for measurement of benefits.  I'm also the person who is the liaison for the arrangements with HLB's engagement with Enbridge.


MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Bruce, as the HLB witness on the panel, could you explain your position and HLB's contribution to the evidence of this panel?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  I'm vice president with HLB Decision Economics.  With respect to EnVision, we conducted two assessments, one of the EnVision benefits utilization plan, and the second one under the benchmark of the EnVision contract.  And in that regard, we've compiled two working papers for each of those engagements, as well as an interim final report, and we have also been involved in some the interrogatories as part of this process.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, if I could just get a couple of the preliminaries out of the way, can the panel please confirm for the Board that the evidence on the EnVision issue, including answers to interrogatories, was prepared by members of the panel or under your direction and control?


MR. CHIOTTI:  On behalf of the panel, I can confirm that.


MR. CASS:  As well, can you please confirm that the evidence on this issue is accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Once again, on behalf of the panel, I can confirm that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  If I could turn to you, then, Mr. Chiotti, for some background on EnVision Project, can you please tell the Board what EnVision is?


MR. CHIOTTI:  As indicated, the EnVision initiative was actually begun in the spring of 2003, so 2006 will actually be the third year of the project.  The company first presented EnVision in its current form to the Board in its 2005 rates proceeding.  In that case, it was accepted in the settlement agreement, as approved by the Board, that the EnVision Project was prudent, and the costs for 2005 were approved, subject to four commitments.  


Three of these commitments were fulfilled during the settlement agreement.  The fourth commitment is addressed in the scope of the EnVision issue in this year's settlement proposal at issue 11, and this will be addressed in more detail shortly.


First, I would like to just provide some background on EnVision for the Board.  EnVision is a broad transformation initiative directed at really trying to significantly improve the way Enbridge Gas Distribution performs its work.  It involves the application of new technology, new business processes and human performance issues, as well.


Annually, Enbridge Gas Distribution performs in excess of 550,000 units of work.  These units of work might be things like emergency calls - that is to say, customers calling us and saying that they think they smell a gas leak - damage repairs due to third parties, requests from customers to change their metre location, and so on.


In addition to that more than half-million units of work, the company adds approximately 50,000 new customers annually, as well.  The ability to manage and execute this very large volume of work in a more effective manner really holds the potential to deliver substantial benefits to the ratepayers.


EnVision is comprised of two major phases.  The first phase of EnVision is referred to as the work and asset management solution.  It went live in October of 2004.  That phase of EnVision really addresses the office processes associated with getting work done.  


The second phase of EnVision, which is referred to as field force transformation, is scheduled to go live in the first quarter of 2006, and this phase will provide field workers with wireless devices which will allow them to access vital information directly in the field, information such as the details of the work that they have to do and vital records on plants in the ground, which will, in fact, allow them to complete their work in a more efficient manner.


 MR. CASS:  Why did the company undertake EnVision?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Initially, the company was really seeking to replace its aging Legacy systems.  EnVision actually replaces 33 legacy systems which were developed over a long period of time, in excess of 20 years.  These systems were developed individually.  As I said, they were aging.  


Some of them, in fact, were using technology that was no longer being supported by the vendor, and we needed to replace these systems.  We wanted to replace them with one integrated system, and that's what we were seeking to do.


Upon further study, we determined that a broader transformational initiative, as I just explained, would, in fact, give us the opportunity to streamline work management and the execution of work and, thus, deliver substantial benefits to customers.


MR. CASS:  Why did the company take the approach of using an application services provider?


MR. CHIOTTI:  When Enbridge Gas Distribution began the initiative, we recognized the need to engage expertise from outside the company, expertise in information technology, in business-process redesign, in project management, in change management and other disciplines, that would help to reduce the inherent risks in a large initiative of this type.  

     And, also, to help ensure that we would be successful in this initiative.  

     We wanted to engage a long-term partner, a service-provider who would take accountability to help us not only implement new technology, but also help us through the transformational aspects of this initiative and, most importantly, to help us make sure that we could achieve the anticipated benefits from this whole effort.  

     The company felt that, if we had tried to engage different service-providers, say, if -- one service-provider to just deliver the technology, that service-provider would not necessarily be interested in how well that technology could be operated, because their only responsibility would be to deliver it and then disappear.  Similarly, if we engaged a different service-provider to just provide the operation of those technologies, that service-provider would not necessarily be aligned with Enbridge Gas Distribution's interest in achieving the benefits.  

     In the end, we came to the conclusion that an application service-provider with both the ability and the accountability to provide a complete package of services, which included technology implementation, operations of that technology and the kind of management assistance that we were looking for to help drive the transformation and the achievement of benefits -- that that would prove to be the alternative to develop that delivered the greatest value to ratepayers and customers.  

     MR. CASS:  How and why was Accenture chosen?           

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We went through an RFP process to select the application service-provider.  Accenture was selected through this RFP process, because they demonstrated to us that they had substantial expertise and experience in providing the full range of services that we were looking for.  

     Their package offered, in fact, the greatest overall value of all of the respondents.  For example, the other respondents to the RFP did not even offer a field-force transformation component.  And we expect the field-force transformation component of EnVision to deliver approximately 50 percent of the benefits that we are anticipating.  

     MR. CASS:  Can you describe the fee structure of the agreement with Accenture?  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  The services agreement with Accenture is a ten-year agreement.  It has a ten-year term.  It involves several components, as I've just indicated, including implementation systems, operations and maintenance of these systems and management assistance.  

     It is based on a fixed price, spread over the term of the contract.  However, this fixed price is subject to changes in scope, which -- you know, as would be expected in any engagement of this scale and complexity and this length of term.  

     Another key facet of the arrangement is that, to further ensure that Accenture’s interests were closely aligned with Enbridge Gas Distribution's interests in this initiative, the services agreement includes a gain-sharing mechanism.   In this gain-sharing arrangement, Accenture has put a portion of their fees at risk, that is to say, they’ve discounted their fees in exchange for the opportunity to share in some of the benefits when they are realized.  And this gain-sharing arrangement was put into the agreement specifically, as I mentioned, to ensure that their interests would be aligned with ours.  

     MR. CASS:  What is the current status of the project? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  As I mentioned, the first phase of EnVision, the work and asset management solution, went live in October of 2004.  We certainly experienced some challenges with that implementation, once again, as might be expected with an initiative of this scale and this complexity.  

     However, the system is now very stable, and is, in fact, effectively supporting the work of the business.  All of our work-types are being supported by the system.  

     The actual transformation of how Enbridge Gas Distribution will perform work differently is still in progress.  This won't really be fully realized until we've implemented the field-force technology component of this in the spring of 2006, and then beyond that, until all of our employees have adopted these new processes and these new systems.  

     However, as individual departments have become more familiar with even the first phase of the system and the new processes that we've implemented with it, they're already beginning to realize some of the benefits of EnVision, and they can certainly begin to see the potential for further benefits down the road.  

     For example, with the new work-forecasting capabilities of the first phase of EnVision, and the automated work-order generation capabilities in that phase, this past April Enbridge Gas Distribution had what everyone judged to be the best new-construction season start-up of, probably, the past ten years.  

     As another example, Enbridge Gas Distribution's sales managers have personally reported to me that they have, now, much better control, much better coordination and tracking of construction projects, right from the point of initial customer request, right through to the final installation, and that our prior systems just simply could not provide them with the information that the new system can provide them to afford that level of control.  

     MR. CASS:  Now, the scoping language in the settlement proposal in this case indicates that there is an issue regarding compliance with the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case, having to do with the commitment to retain a consultant to benchmark the services and costs in the Accenture services agreement.  Can the company please state its position on that issue?  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.  As Mr. Chiotti stated a few moments ago, the Board approved the project in the settlement agreement from last year as prudent, and the costs were approved on the basis that Enbridge would comply with four commitments.  Three of those four commitments were addressed at the time of the settlement agreement, itself.  And the fourth related to Enbridge's commitment to hire an independent consultant to review both the benefit realization plan and also the contract with Accenture.  

     Last fall, Enbridge went through an RFP process, and we worked with intervenors on that RFP.  And, in fact, in order to get further input from intervenors, we delayed issuing the RFP because we wanted that input.  We had got

-- we adjusted the RFP, and we also put an -- additional consultants on the bid list so that -- really, on their recommendation.  

     We went through that RFP process, and HLB's Decision Economics was hired to complete the work.  They’ve made a number of recommendations, which Enbridge has agreed to implement, and we're in the process of implementing them.  

     And we believe that with the work that was done -- that we're doing now to implement those recommendations, that we have completely complied with the four commitments made in the settlement agreement of last year.  

     MR. CASS:  Now, if I could turn to you, Mr. Bruce, for a moment.  Yesterday, a document was filed that, for the specific purposes of this proceeding, I think, describes some of the qualifications of HLB.  I believe it was given Exhibit No. K2.4.  

     I wonder if you could, perhaps, just quickly take the Board through that document, Exhibit K2.4.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Does everyone have the exhibit?  The exhibit -- I’ll just wait.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We have it.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Okay.  I prepared a synopsis of our qualifications for the public record, with particular emphasis on the types of projects that we've been engaged with that are of particular relevance to the EnVision project.  I mean, our firm does have, obviously, cost-benchmarking experience, revenue-benchmarking experience and financial-benchmarking experience.  

     And for each benchmarking project that we undertake, we certainly look at the specific parameters of the project at hand, and make sure we fully understand, obviously, the project scope and what can be done and what the right approach should be.  

     In that regard, I've put forth five examples of our specific experience in the two pager of qualifications that I've provided.


In three of those examples, examples are given of large-scale either purely IT or IT business transformation projects, in which we, HLB, were brought in by the Minister of the federal and provincial department to essentially best benchmark the status of the project at that point, including costs, and, in many cases, the value to, in this regard, the taxpayer of those specific initiatives and with the objective of making a series of recommendations for the path going forward.


And the last two projects that I put forth really relate to RFP processes that we've developed for vendor selection that's based on value-based procurement mechanisms to ensure that value was received by those that are issuing the RFP, whether it be value for a shareholder or ratepayer or a taxpayer.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, Mr. Stephens, in his evidence in this case, has made some comments about HLB's methodology for benchmarking.  Can you please describe HLB's benchmarking methodology and how you came to decide upon that particular methodology?


MR. BRUCE:  All right.  With respect to obviously assessing the EnVision contract with Accenture and the project itself, when we started looking at the particular ‑‑ the specifics of the project, we noticed that the project had many different facets.  There is a

benefits-driven partnership component.  Obviously, there was a systems development and systems implementation component to the project.  There was a large‑scale business transformation component, as well, as many of the benefits expected or most of the benefits to be expected to be derived from the project really relate to business transformation.


Obviously, as well, there is some IT outsourcing aspects of the initiative and there is a managerial assistance component initiative, and all of these different components were negotiated under the umbrella of one services agreement.


We determined that, you know, the EnVision contract is not a contract that should be benchmarked, if you will, using a standard IT cost benchmark approach, mainly for two reasons:  One, the large-scale business transformation component of the project, as well as the management assistance component of the project, which is really not something that it's possible for us or anyone else, I believe, to actually benchmark.


As well, we felt that it was really inappropriate to, you know, pick the elements of the services agreement apart and try to benchmark the individual components, again, because they were negotiated as a package deal.  


Therefore, the methodology that we put forward in this engagement was one that really focuses, focuses‑in on approaches we have used elsewhere in looking at these large-scale IT business transformation projects, and that is one that really focuses on ensuring that the process is in place, the governance is in place, transparency is in place and that the focus of the benchmark is really to ensure that value is being derived and that value is being derived for the ratepayer.


In our working papers, I think working paper number 2 that I think it is in Exhibit A, tab 5‑3, it provides our methodology.


MR. CASS:  Have you had an opportunity to look at the wording of the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes, we looked at that in obviously drafting our response to the RFP.


MR. CASS:  All right.  What is your view as to whether the work that you're doing meets the commitment in that settlement proposal?


MR. BRUCE:  It meets the commitment.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Could I then get you to comment quickly on some of the specific observations made by Mr. Stephens in his evidence?  One of Mr. Stephens' observations had to do with the lack of a table comparing certain elements, types, skill levels, quantities, costs of implementation resources.  What's your comment on Mr. Stephens' evidence in that regard?


MR. BRUCE:  Again, as I mentioned just with respect to our methodology, in looking at the project, we didn't -- um..., we determined that it was inappropriate to use a traditional IT benchmarking approach to analyzing the EnVision contract, and that's what's being put forth with that template that is being suggested.


Again, as the services agreement ‑- I guess the other point related to that, that presumes that we sort of pick and choose the different elements of service that we are to evaluate, and, again, we felt that to be inappropriate and our analysis really focuses in on value for money for the ratepayers.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Another point from Mr. Stephens' evidence, I believe, has to do with a table comparing the costs of ASP, application service provider, operations services.  What's your response to his ‑‑


MR. BRUCE:  The same as the ‑‑ sorry, the same as the previous response.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Then, as well, he has some commentary about the lack of analysis of the at-risk fees.  Your comment in that regard would be, what?


MR. BRUCE:  In the recommendations that we put forth as part of this engagement, it was essentially that we recommend to ensure that at the end of the day that, you know, the benefits are realized and value is realized for the ratepayer; that the business case for EnVision be updated, in a very transparent process, to ensure that the benefits are truly being realized.  And through that process of updating the business case, then, in the value-for-money calculus, if you will, the at-risk fees would -- certainly should be accommodated, and that should be transparent.


MR. CASS:  Then, finally, in relation to the work of HLB, I believe Mr. Stephens had a comment about the use of a US database.  Do you have any position in response to what Mr. Stephens said on that?


MR. BRUCE:  Again, we indicated and determined that, you know, traditional cost benchmark approach was not appropriate for evaluating the EnVision project.  We focussed more on value.  Now, that being said, we did look for other publicly-available information that provided, you know, a comparison of rates for Accenture and some other key competitors to ensure that they were generally in the range of their key competitors.


MR. CASS:  All right.  If I could just come back to you, Mr. Chiotti, for a couple of concluding questions, also in relation to the commentary or the evidence from Mr. Stephens.


Another aspect of Mr. Stephens' evidence had to do with his indication to the Board that there was ground for a reduction in the 2006 EnVision ASP fees.  Can you provide the Board with the company's position in respect of that evidence from Mr. Stephens?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I can.  The company doesn't accept Mr. Stephens' conclusions.  These conclusions are based on a host of assumptions and on Mr. Stephens' interpretation of the services agreement.  The company could certainly challenge these assumptions and interpretations.  However, we don't ‑‑ the company doesn't feel that it is necessary to do that, because the company disagrees with Mr. Stephens' whole approach.  


As has been stated a number of times, EnVision is a broad change initiative.  It involves new technology, new business processes, human performance.  It is not just an IT project.


The services agreement with Accenture is a package deal which addresses the full scope of this broad initiative.  The package offers the greatest overall value to ratepayers.


Mr. Stephens has drawn his conclusion by isolating one component of the services agreement and dealing only with costs and not value.  Segmenting the services agreement in this way is not appropriate.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then, finally, Mr. Chiotti, Mr. Stephens has some evidence about the company gaining a comprehensive benchmark from other entities that I believe are called Gartner and Compass.  What's the company's position in that regard?


MR. CHIOTTI:  The company does not believe that it would be of value to ratepayers to have another consultant attempt to provide such a benchmark.  Once again, following the commitments in the settlement agreement from 2005, the company initiated an RFP process with broad consultation with intervenors.  We made changes and suggestions, as requested.  The Gartner Group and Compass were added to the bid list, as requested.  


It should be noted that the Gartner Group declined to respond to the RFP, and Compass did respond, but indicated in their response that they would not be able to address the full scope of the RFP.


The company believes that the methodology that has been employed by HLB is most appropriate, because it does look at the overall value of the project to ratepayers, and it ensures that mechanisms were in place in the services agreement to ensure that the value could be demonstrated on an ongoing basis.

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, that completes the examination in-chief of the panel.  Thank you.        

MS. NOVINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass. 

     Can I get an indication from intervenors who would like to cross-examine this panel?  

     MR. WARREN:  I have extensive cross-examination of the panel, but I gather that Mr -- my friend, Mr. Shepherd, wants to go first.  So --

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, is that so? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the intervenors have discussed the order and, while Mr. Warren will be the lead intervenor, because we have what is, in essence, a friendly cross - we're supporting the EnVision process - we felt it was fair - we have a short cross - that we would go first, before Mr. Warren.   And that's been agreed. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That's appropriate.  

     Mr. Warren, are there any other intervenors supporting your position?

     MR. WARREN:  I beg your pardon?     

     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other intervenors who will be cross-examining following you? 

     MR. WARREN:  I believe that Mr. Thompson and Mr. Dingwall are, as well.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.      

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else? 

     All right.          

     MR. BATTISTA:  Madam Chair, it would be useful to know how long they think they’ll take.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Good point, Mr. Battista.  

     How long do you expect to take, Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifteen minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren? 

     MR. WARREN:  Ouch.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I won't hold you to it.  

     MR. WARREN:  There are nearly a thousand pages’ worth of material in the evidence on this matter, and this is the first time the Board’s really had a chance to look at it, so I’m embarrassed to say it’s likely to take me a minimum of two hours, and perhaps closer to three to do it.  

     I'm sorry about that, but I don't see much option.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, can you estimate at this point? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I expect Mr. Warren will cover the bulk of the points that I’ll be interested in, so I would think no more than 30 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm in the same position -- as Mr. Thompson, not Mr. Warren.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, I assumed that.  

     All right.  That should see us finish by noon tomorrow, hopefully.  

     Mr. Shepherd, why don't you proceed?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Madam Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chiotti, these questions are largely for you, although, obviously, the other witnesses are welcome to jump in, and leap to your defence, as it were, at their leisure.  

     And I wonder if I could ask Mr. Chiotti and, particularly, Ms. McCowan, if you're speaking, to speak directly into the mike.  We're having some trouble hearing you, because there are five of you on the panel.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Our seating arrangements, unfortunately, aren't ideal -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  -- it's a cozy group, here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's start with the obvious.  The EnVision process has had some problems in its initial phase, notably cost overruns and a difficult transmission to a new system; right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, it has.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you're about $6 million over budget already, although Accenture has eaten some of that? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not sure where you derived that number exactly, Mr. Shepherd.  Sorry.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there was a chart in the materials that showed the various increases in costs of which - what, 1.9, or something - the company paid and the rest was paid by Accenture.  Isn't that right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's right.  Sorry.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  It’s that 6 million that -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  -- you're referring to? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     Are you over budget in other ways, besides that? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, as we’ve indicated in the evidence, you know, we have incurred some internal costs, as well.  We declared all of that in the evidence and in the interrogatory responses.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And when you went live -- now, my question here says, “you crashed and burned”, but I guess that’s probably an unfair way to put it.  But it’s fair to say that you struggled for a while, until you solved some technical issues and got back on track; right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not sure I would quite characterize it that way, but, yes, we certainly experienced some start-up problems when we went live in October.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it fair to say that some of those problems were, if you're looking at them in hindsight - I'm not being critical - errors of judgment on the part of managers and others as to how to best achieve certain aspects of the project? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I don't think I would characterize it that way.  This is -- was a very, very large initiative.  As I mentioned, we replaced 33 legacy systems.  These systems, as you can imagine, covered a vast scope of business processes and business rules that the company has been operating under for the past 25 years.  

     We replaced all of that with one system.  We did it in a space of, essentially, two years of effort.  I would suggest that our schedule was aggressive.  We chose an aggressive schedule purposely.  It was appropriate.  Our aging systems needed to be replaced, and, you know, at the outset of a project of this magnitude, deadlines, work plans, schedules are, necessarily, an estimate.  And as the project progresses, you are bound to encounter issues and challenges that could not be foreseen at the outset.  And in the end, the delay in implementation was roughly three months, which, I would say, is not unusual for a project of this magnitude. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My question wasn't intended to be critical.  It was actually -- 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  No, I understand. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- an easy set-up question.  It is, in fact, the case --

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I missed it then, I'm sorry. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that it wasn't done perfectly.  Mistakes were made, both by Enbridge people and by Accenture people.  Right?  Nobody was perfect in this.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I can agree that no one is perfect.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There you go.  

     However, it hasn't all been mistakes, right?  I mean, there -- you did make some good choices in how you designed and implemented this plan.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I would certainly agree with that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I mean, we see in the evidence some stuff about choosing the wrong database, which caused you a big problem in your start-up; right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  You know, I -- here again, not to sound overly-defensive - and I don't want to - I want to make sure -- this is a complex matter, and these stems are complex initiatives.  And having been involved with it throughout its inception, and lived and breathed it every day over the last three years, you might accept that I'm anxious to make sure that things are reflected appropriately.  

     The database issue that you referred to involved the fact that, when we built the system, the database software used - which is known as “Oracle”, a well-known product, used worldwide -- you can run that product on different platforms.  One platform is to run it on the Microsoft platform, and that, also, is a very well-known product -- series of products, used worldwide.  And you can also run it on the UNIX platform.  

     We chose to run it on the Microsoft platform.  There was absolutely no reason to believe that that platform would not support what the system was trying to do.  So, in that sense, I do take exception with referring to these things as “mistakes” per se.  There was no reason to believe that it wouldn't operate.  We implemented system, and in the first week of operations, the database crashed.  It turned out to be an incredibly obscure technical problem, embedded deep in the code of Microsoft.  Every system is different.  Every system has, you know, different complexities, different parameters to it.  

     It seemed to be just the case that our system had the particular combination of circumstances that it unearthed this obscure bug in Microsoft.  And, actually, the bug was in Oracle, but it was in Oracle as a result of running within the Microsoft environment.  It, in fact, took a number of days for the vendors to isolate the problem, and to realize that the problem even existed, because it was that obscure.  

     Because of that problem, the ultimate solution was to switch platforms.  The vendors felt confident that switching to UNIX would not create an environment that would replicate that problem.  We looked to solve the problem within the Microsoft environment, but the vendors could not guarantee that they could eliminate the recurrence of that problem completely.  

     And so we had to take a very hard decision at that time, which was to actually move the system from Microsoft to UNIX.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And moving to UNIX resulted in the system, once you got all of the bugs out, being quite stable.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I am loath to tempt the fates, but - touch wood - the system has been entirely stable under the UNIX environment, and the problem has not resurfaced. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you still have a long list of little things in the system that you're fixing, right, because in any big project you have, the more important problems and you have a bunch of less important problems that you get to when you can; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So as you're fixing them, the system is getting better day to day?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When this system was first conceived, you expected substantial benefits to the company and to the ratepayers; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you expected that both service and reliability would be improved and the costs would be driven down; isn't that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So better quality, lower cost?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you're expecting those benefits to continue for ten years or more?


MR. CHIOTTI:  In effect, as long as we were using those systems, we would expect those benefits to continue in perpetuity, but of course all systems have a reasonable lifespan, and ten years from now I suspect there will be newer technologies out, different opportunities, and so, you know, we would be obviously inclined to look at those and see if we should be adopting those.  But certainly for the duration of the services agreement with Accenture, the ten years that we intend to run this ‑‑ these systems in this first term of the contract, we would expect the benefits to continue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have the problems in the first year, both the cost overruns and the start‑up of phase 1 and the technical problems you had there, have they changed your view at all as to whether this is a good idea or whether you will be able to deliver those benefits?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No, it certainly has not changed the company's view or my view, personally.


The three-month delay in implementation, the start‑up challenges that we've had, have certainly led us to conclude that we will not reach the maximum benefits in the same time frame as we had originally anticipated.  In fact, we've responded in evidence and in our interrogatories that we feel that the overall impact of this will be about a one-year delay in the ramp-up of benefits.


But we ‑‑ and here, again, you know, benefits are based on estimates.  When we filed and did the business case for EnVision at the outset, we projected a range of benefits.  We filed the mid-case of that range, because that seemed to be the appropriate estimate to be using at this stage in the project.


So accepting that benefits are estimates and that there is a likelihood that there will be a range of benefits that we will ultimately be able to achieve, we are still very much committed to achieving those benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The benefits are expected to really kick into high gear around 2007; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The ramping up, but you don't really get there to the big numbers until 2007?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.  And of course part of that is the organization, the company, adopting the new systems and processes of phase 1, and then of course, as I mentioned earlier, approximately 50 percent of the benefits are anticipated to come from the field force transformation component of this, which will not be implemented until the first quarter of 2006.  Then, of course, there will be a period of time when the company will be getting used to those new systems and processes, as well.  


So that's why we're now projecting 2007 as the point at which we should see the peak in benefit realization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And now 2007, that's when the company currently expects to be starting a PBR regime; right?  According to what you have planned and what you've heard from the Board, that's what you expect; right?  


MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not personally involved in those ‑‑ that area of the organization, so I don't want to speak out of turn here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Pleckaitis, you're on the committee.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  As I recall, the actual timing of when PBR might come into play is still subject to evolution and change.  What I am aware of is that 2007 may become the base year and 2008 could become our first year of actual PBR, but, again, subject to what might happen between now and when we actually get there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course.  Now, if that is the case, then am I right in assuming that whatever benefits, like the high level of benefits that you're planning to achieve, this will basically be locked in in PBR; right?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Whenever we get to the point of actually establishing the forecast for that, whatever that PBR period would be, we would build into that, at that time, our best estimate of what the benefit stream would be from EnVision and the cost of EnVision, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if that is the case and if the company doesn't achieve those benefits, that will be the shareholder's cost, not the ratepayers; right?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I take it that internally - and you're one of the executives, so you would be the one doing this - there will be a lot of pressure on the EnVision managers not only to achieve the benefits, but to exceed them; right?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That just leaves me with one area of concern, and that is:  How do you think that the ratepayers and the Board can get detailed and reliable information on those benefits as they're being achieved?  How can you show, as this rolls out, that the initiative was a good one?  


I can understand how you can project it, but I'm trying to understand how you can show it after the fact.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I will comment on that, and I will ask perhaps Ms. McCowan to add anything that she might.


Benefits realization and having a benefits realization plan in place and having adequate measures to be able to track benefits has been very much a part of what we've set out to do in the EnVision initiative, right from the outset.


The engagement with HLB, a portion of that engagement was specifically to look at the progress we had made thus far in establishing those measures and establishing those benefit realization plans.  We're certainly going to benefit from their expertise and the recommendations that they have made, and in responding to those recommendations we are right now in the process of, in fact, revising our benefits realization plans and refining those plans, and also refining and trying to get to a more granular level of measurement of those benefits.


And it's absolutely our intent, as I think Mr. Bruce indicated, to have transparency and to be able to report out on our progress towards achieving those benefits in a way that will clearly demonstrate that we are achieving those benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you haven't yet filed how you're going to do that; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  At this point, we've committed to file that with the next rates case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in the end, we can expect that your regional operations budget should go down, and the quality and timeliness of the work in the field should go up, because of EnVision; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  In general, I would say yes.  That's one of the challenges with measuring benefits in a changing world.


I mean, the business is expanding.  Every year, we add 50,000 new customers.  One would expect budgets to grow, just by virtue of increasing volume of work.


So as we gain efficiencies, I would say that on a per-unit- of-work basis, we would expect costs to go down, and that is the granularity that we are now wrestling with, in fact, in trying to come up with a better set of measures to be able to demonstrate that we have achieved these benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not just costs going down; right?  It is also the quality of the work going up; right?  There's two types of benefits?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  And I was perhaps remiss in not quickly covering this in the examination in‑chief for the benefit of the Board.


We had four over-arching objectives in EnVision.  The first objective was, in fact, to increase productivity and increase productivity substantially.  The second objective was to provide access to information beyond what we can do today or what we could do then with our Legacy systems.


Our business is very reliant on information.  When we converted those 33 systems to EnVision, we converted 3 million asset records.  We converted 10 million event records, which record events that have occurred against those assets over the history of the organization.  So, as you can imagine, information is critical to our operation.


The second objective of EnVision is to make sure that we're providing the right information to the right people, at the right time, in the right form, in a timely manner.


The third objective is to improve, basically, our customer service and -- particularly, on two fronts.  With a core utility like ours, the customer experience should be one of being easy to do business with us, and being able to rely on us to fulfil our commitments to them.  We -- the two explicit areas in the -- on the customer front that we want to address, is that we want to be able to make a commitment to a customer on first contact, whether that customer calls us through our call-centre, or whether they flag down one of our service technicians in the field, or what have you.  

     Secondly, having made that commitment, we want to - and, initially, we're targeting - to make sure that we are going to meet those commitments 90%, or greater, of the time.  

     And fourth objective of EnVision was, also, to address things from an employee perspective.  We wanted to simplify work for employees.  We wanted to give employees tools that would allow them to have a greater influence over the work that they do, and the quality of work that they do, day in and day out. 

     Thank you for giving me that opportunity to revisit that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we expect that your benefit-tracking plan, when it is tabled, will have rigorous methods of measuring both the financial and the non-financial benefits to the ratepayers? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Here again, I could defer to Ms. McCowan, because her entire working life, I would say, is devoted to making sure of exactly what you've just said.  

     It is an outcome of implementing the system, in fact, that we will have measures that we've never had before.  The intent of the system is, literally, to be able to track every piece of that 550,000 units of work from the moment it comes in to us to the moment it is completed, and to know its status, and to know how long it took to do each part of the work, and when each part of the work was completed and how much it cost to do each part of that work.  

     That is part of what is going to allow us to improve the management of work and the execution of work.  So the very implementation of the system will provide us, hopefully, the tools to do exactly what you've stated.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are our questions.  And with your leave, I'm going to remove myself from the premises.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Mr. Warren, do you want to begin your cross-examination? 

     MR. WARREN:  Sure.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps, Mr. Warren, you can look for a break in your line of questioning that would allow us to finish off this afternoon around 4 o'clock. 

     MR. WARREN:  Around 4 o’clock?

     MS. NOWINA:  Whatever works for your line of questioning. 

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, a preliminary matter, and that is, I have prepared some materials for cross-examination which consists of the following:  it is the pre-filed evidence of Enbridge in last year's case - the RP-2003-0203 case - pre-filed evidence of Mr. Stephens on behalf of a number of intervenors and the ADR Agreement.  There are a number of reasons - that I hope will become clear in cross-examination - why I think that material is essential to understand the EnVision project.  

     The only issue I raise with respect to it is this -- is that the Accenture agreement was filed in confidence, because it contained certain sensitive financial information, and Mr. Stephens' evidence reflected some of that.  So Mr. Stephens' evidence last year - it was actually Mr. Stephens and Mr. Wolnik, together - was marked as confidential.  

     So when I deliver it up as a brief of material today - as I indicated to my friends opposite, I have given copies, obviously, to my friends, to the relevant Members of the Panel, to Board Staff for you - I've given it to those other intervenors whom I know, personally, to have signed the confidentiality undertaking last year.  

     I have additional copies, but I am not going to give them to anybody until I’m told that others have signed the confidentiality agreement.  

     The second thing is that I hope -- I will qualify that.  I hope, in my cross-examination, not to deal with numbers that are in confidence, but I'm going to have to rely on Ms. Persad, in particular, to whack me over the knuckles if I raise some confidential numbers.  But I’ll do my best not to do that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, Ms. Persad, are you comfortable with this arrangement? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Just for clarity - I think this was apparent from what Mr. Warren said - but the confidentiality concern is an Accenture concern.  Accenture considers that there is real commercial sensitivity attached to certain of the terms of its arrangement, especially financial terms, as Mr. Warren alluded to.  

     I only say this because, of course, Accenture is not here to express those concerns to the Board, and Ms. Persad and I are sort of doing that, indirectly, on Accenture's behalf.  

     I think it would be quite appropriate to proceed in the manner that Mr. Warren has suggested.  I don't, in fact, know whether there are any people here who are looking for a copy of the document who have not signed the confidentiality agreement, but if there are any such, Ms. Persad has additional copies -- blank copies of the confidentiality agreement with her, so that we can deal with that in that fashion. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Is there anyone so interested? 

[The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  No one else? 

     Mr. Sommerville makes a point that, Mr. Warren, if you should slip and state a number that Ms. Persad or Mr. Cass has a problem with, that we, at least, will be able to strike that from the record, and issue a redacted version of the transcript.  

     MR. WARREN:  I will do my best and I don't -- as things now stand, I don't think I’m going to transgress.  But I -- in the enthusiasm of the moment, one never knows.  

     I wonder if I could impose on Board Staff to pass up three copies to the Panel Members. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, if I could just raise one more point.  I assume that we’ll be entering this as a confidential exhibit, then? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So it will be kept separate from the rest of the exhibits, and it will be marked in red ink or something like that, to ensure that it doesn't go directly on to the public record.  

     Now, Mr. Warren, am I correct in saying there’s only the one of the three documents that’s actually confidential? 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's correct.  And you’ll see on the cover document that I’ve identified the one that is confidential.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And am I right in saying that the other two documents, 1 and 3, are already on the public record for the previous filing? 

     MR. WARREN:  All three of them are on the record.  Only two of them are on the public record in the previous. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That’s right.  So if members of the public wanted to see tabs 1 and 3, they could see those through RP-2003-0203? 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, they could.     

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Battista, could you give us a different numbering scheme for the confidential documents? 

     MR. CASS:  If it helps at all, Madam Chair, I believe that, in the previous case, the confidential exhibits were identified with an X to begin the exhibit number.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine with me, as long as it’s different than the others.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  X3.1, and that's -- we can call that “The Stephens-Wolnik Excerpt from RP-2003-0203.” 

EXHIBIT NO. X3.1:  THE STEPHENS-WOLNIK EXCERPT FROM RP-2003-0203, TAB 2 OF THE BOOKLET ONLY, A CONFIDENTIAL EXHIBIT 

     MS. NOWINA:  Now, there’s only one document? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Right --  

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.

     MR. BATTISTA:   -- so the other two will have -- with respect, the other two we would put into exhibit numbers in our regular sequence.  We’d have to split this apart, because otherwise the whole document, that contains both confidential and non-confidential, then, would be put into the confidential X series.  If I understood you correctly, two of the three tabs are in the public record? 

     MR. WARREN:  That's true, Mr. Battista.  But the effort was efficiency, to try and cluster together all of the relevant information. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  We will give them different exhibit numbers for the different tabs.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  So tab 1 from the booklet will be K3.2.  And that we can call pre-filed evidence of EGD from RP-2003-0203.  

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION FROM RP-2003-0203, TAB 1 OF BOOKLET ONLY

     MR. BATTISTA:   And then tab 3 from the booklet would be given number K3.3, and that would be excerpt of ADR Agreement from RP-2003-0203.  

EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  PRE-FILED EVIDENCE OF ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION FROM RP-2003-0203, TAB 3 OF BOOKLET ONLY

     MS. NOWINA:  And tab 2 is X3.1. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Right. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That does it. 

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, members of the panel.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chiotti, can I begin with you, because I believe that you have probably the longest history with this project.


I would like to begin by just giving a full background to the evolution of what is now the EnVision project.  Am I right, Mr. Chiotti, that the original concept of replacing the Legacy systems to deal with this arose in the 2002 rates case, which was RP-2001‑0032, and was at the time called DPWAMS, D-P-W-A-M-S; is that fair?


 MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  I've somewhat lost track of the different rate case references, but I believe you are correct.


MR. WARREN:  Subject to check.  And --


MR. CHIOTTI:  I will never forget that acronym.


MR. WARREN:  Am I correct, Mr. Chiotti, again, subject to check, that it was presented in that case in ‑‑ I mean no disrespect when I use this term, but it was presented in that case largely in conceptual form, and the Board said, since ‑- this is my gloss on it -‑ since this is conceptual form, we're not going to approve it.  There is really nothing for us to approve.


So that was its disposition in that case; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm not sure that I would use the term "conceptual".  The project had been identified and a certain amount of analysis had been done, and it was at a stage where we had estimates of what it was going to take to do that project as defined at that time, and we were bringing it forward as a project to be approved.


It was a more traditional IT capital project.  It was a multi‑year capital project.  And the fact that it was a multi‑year capital project was problematic, because the rate hearing could only deal with the current year or the test year that was before the Board.


So it was difficult to deal with this project as a multi‑year capital project.  It was difficult for the company to arrive at, I would say, a level of comfort that the project was going to be accepted and that the investment in the project would ultimately be recoverable in rates.


MS. HOLDER:  Just to further clarify, I think one key point that has not been mentioned, it had no impact on rates for the test year, which was the primary issue at hand, as we were presenting a project with actual costs, but the costs would not come into play in the test year.  So the Board would be asked to approve a project that had implications on rates for the future years.


MR. WARREN:  The solution that was covered by the concept of DPWAMS was an internal solution; is that correct?  In other words, it didn't require an external application service provider?


MR. CHIOTTI:  We did not contemplate an external application services provider at that time.  However, we did contemplate that we would engage a firm like Accenture to, at a minimum, work with us on the implementation of the system.


MR. WARREN:  But what was presented to the Board in that case, as I recollect it, Mr. Chiotti, was what I will describe as an internal solution that had an estimated cost of about $20 million; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Given the scope of DPWAMS at that time, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the next appearance, if I can call it that, the next iteration of what was to become EnVision, was in the next rates case, which was

RP-2002‑0133.  That's the 2003 rates case.  And by that time, you had engaged Accenture and you were coming forward with the idea of an external service provider; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Here again, subject to check, because I've ‑‑ we were having this very discussion this morning trying to track back all of the different rate cases in which we have dealt with this subject.  So I will say yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Ms. Holder is whispering in my ear that it is correct.


MR. WARREN:  In my experience, one always does what Ms. Holder says is correct.


MR. WARREN:  The ‑‑ my recollection was that the proposal was then called WAMS proposal.  It didn't yet have the field force transformation component to it; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the proposal was, as I recollect it, subject to check, a cost of approximately $50 million stretched over approximately seven years; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Here, again, you're taxing my memory on those numbers.  I actually have that evidence here with me.  If you'd like, I will flip to it to confirm.


MR. WARREN:  If you wouldn't mind, Mr. Chiotti, so we're all clear on the accurate numbers.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Sure.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chiotti, if it helps you, I have the portion of the Board's decision which gives the numbers.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I have that evidence in front of me and I would agree with that.


MR. WARREN:  If I could just read into the record, Mr. Chiotti, the Board's description of this, which appears in the decision with reasons in that case, and it appears at paragraph 648.  It says:

"The company indicated that the annual fees payable to Accenture would be 7.1 million in fiscal 2003, 10.2 million in fiscal 2004, 6.0 million from 2005 to 2009 and 3 million in fiscal 2010, for a total of 50.3 million over the life of the project.  EGDI stated that it intended to capitalize 50 percent of Accenture's annual service fee since the project supports the company's construction activities."


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's consistent with my evidence here.


MR. WARREN:  Now, for fiscal 2004, there was an agreement for the 2004 rates.  There was no oral hearing.  There was a -- an agreement among all of the parties in EGDI, with the Board's active encouragement, that we settle rates in order to allow EGDI to get back on track, in terms of its fiscal year.


The next appearance, then, of EnVision was in the RP‑2003‑0203 case, which was last year's case dealing with ‑‑ or the case dealing with 2005 rates; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in that case, that was ‑‑ am I accurate in saying that that was the first appearance of the full ‑‑ what I will describe as the full‑blown EnVision project as we now have it before the Board; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me just a minute.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And to describe it at a high level in terms of generality, there was an application service provider with a fee for service over a ten-year period; correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  What was now added to it was this concept of field services, which is the field force transformation; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  In addition, there was the concept of management assistance; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  And the total cost over the life of the project was to be approximately $136 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And the proposal was to capitalize 90 percent of the Accenture fees and to recover 10 percent through O&M; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And there was the ADR agreement, which was the subject of comments in your examination in‑chief and to which I will return later.  But am I right, then, that this case now is the first case in which the Board has had an opportunity to consider the EnVision project proposal in an oral hearing?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, it is.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I just want to, if I can, go through what I understand to be the basic components of the project and see if I've understood them correctly.


The first component is the work and asset management system; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  The implementation of that system, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Implementation.  And can you describe, very briefly, what the work and asset management implementation consists of?


MR. CHIOTTI:  The work and asset management system implementation involved a whole process of analyzing the company's needs and the company's objectives with respect to this transformation that we wanted to effect.


It involved going through a process of selecting a commercially-available packaged software, configuring that software specifically to the new processes and the procedures that we wanted to implement, building interfaces from those packaged software components to other Legacy systems within the company's computing environment, testing that system, preparing training, and all of the various steps involved in building, testing, implementing that solution.


MR. WARREN:  Now, would you, please, in this context, Mr. Chiotti, turn up tab 1 of the exhibit booklet I've presented?  I will never remember the number, so I will just call it "the booklet" today.  Tab 1 at page 10.  These are paginated in the upper right-hand corner.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I have that.


MR. WARREN:  This is your pre-filed evidence of last year, and I see a pie chart which indicates the work and asset implementation and a total cost of $30 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the second component ‑‑ the second component of the EnVision project is the work and asset management operation; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  And could you just briefly describe what that is?


MR. CHIOTTI:  The work and asset management operations is those services in the services agreement with Accenture whereby they will build a -- what's known as a production environment involving the necessary hardware and software with which to, what's called, host or operate the application software that was created in the implementation.


Included in that operations would be ensuring that the system has a fallback capability; disaster recovery capability; that the system is supported, in terms of fixing problems that occur with the system


In addition, we negotiated components of the operations, which included things like being able to accommodate the growth in the business without incurring any additional costs.  And, so for example, the agreements include our ability to continue to grow the business at the anticipated rate of 50,000 customers a year, and, to the extent that the hardware or software would have to be extended to accommodate that scale, it would all be included in the agreement.


MR. WARREN:  And am I correct, Mr. Chiotti, at least notionally, that the first phase is the implementation of work and asset management, and once that is completed you then go to the operational phase; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Essentially.  There's an overlap of those two components, if you will.  You have to create the production environment in advance of going go-live.


MR. WARREN:  Looking at the pie chart which appears in last year's pre-filed evidence in page 10 of the exhibit booklet, I see that work and asset management operations has a total cost of $40 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  The third component ‑‑ am I right that the third component of the EnVision project is field force implementation?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And can you describe briefly what field force implementation consists of?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Once again, it involves the analysis of our needs and our objectives in this component of the EnVision initiative.  It involves a process of, once again, selecting a commercially-available hardware and software.  It involves configuring that software.


A particular component of this is selecting the appropriate wireless devices that we were going to use in the field and configuring those devices, testing all of that system, getting it in place, providing for the training and the various steps of implementation of the system.


MR. WARREN:  And looking at the pie chart on page 10, I see that field force implementation has a cost of $12 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  The fourth component of the EnVision project, am I right, is field force transformation operations; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And would you briefly describe what that consists of?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, here, again, it's ‑‑ it involves the establishment of a production environment in which to host or operate the system that has just been implemented and all of the necessary support for that system, including the things I mentioned with the first phase of implementation, which are things like disaster recovery, and fallback, and maintenance of the system, fixing any problems that occur, and so on.


MR. WARREN:  And that has a cost of $25 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the fourth ‑‑ sorry.  The fifth element of the EnVision project is something called management assistance; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And would you describe, please, what the management assistance consists of?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, as I've mentioned earlier this afternoon, this is a broad business transformation initiative and, as such, it is not just about implementing information technology or even just implementing information technology with new processes.


It's also about effecting a change in how our employees think about the performance of work, how they execute that work, how they manage the flow of work.


In some respects, some components of achieving that overall transformation is embedded in -- certainly in both of the development components of EnVision, because it is during that development that you are developing and designing the new processes, part of this, and beginning the process of training and educating employees on the new way of doing work.


However, to effect a transformation of this nature, we're affecting in excess of 1,000 employees within the company with this.  We're also involving the contractors that we do business with.


To do that required, we felt, an additional set of activities, additional set of tasks and effort that falls under what we're calling management assistance.  So this provides specifically for Accenture to provide us with resources, with expertise, with advice, with knowledge over the first seven years of the services agreement to help, as I mentioned, drive the transformation and, in particular, help us to ensure that we are getting the benefits.  And, once again, the gain-sharing mechanism is part and parcel of all of that.


MR. WARREN:  And that, looking at the pie chart, has a cost of $16 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And all of those figures are Accenture fees; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That is correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, just so that I am clear on what EnVision consists of, could you, looking at the exhibit booklet -- and this is from your pre-filed evidence last year.  It's at page 5 of the exhibit booklet.


Looking at numbered page 14, this is in pre-filed evidence in which you describe ‑‑ sorry, paragraph 14.  You were describing the components of EnVision, and you talk about something called the operations of information technology component of EnVision.  


Can you tell me what this is and how that relates to the other five elements that you and I have just discussed?


 MR. CHIOTTI:  Paragraph 14, in fact, is explaining the two components of EnVision which are referred to as work and asset management operations and field force technology operations.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So is "the operations of information technology" a term which encompasses those two elements?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  It is not a free‑standing element of EnVision to which a distinct cost is attached; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, can you then, in the same exhibit booklet, turn to page 7, numbered page 7?  There we have EnVision components and time lines.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Do I understand that as of the pre-filed evidence last year, this was the forecast time line for the various components, the four major components or five major components of the EnVision project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, looking at the first one, work and asset management implementation, there has, in fact, been a ‑‑ that time line would be changed so that the implementation date was October 25th of 2004.  Have I got that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  The work and asset management operations, the second of the time lines, may I assume, Mr. Chiotti, that it was not ‑‑ didn't take effect in April of 2004, but at some later time?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  In fact, it did take effect in April of 2004, in the sense that the ‑‑ as I indicated, the operations components, both work and asset management and field force technology, involved establishing a production environment, retaining the hardware, software and so on, the space in which to retain that.


That needs to be done in advance of go-live.  At the time that we had identified the need to delay the project, the production environment was already up and running.  In fact, the production environment is used as part of the testing process of a new system going in, and we were using that production environment at that time.  We also had conversion activities that needed to be done, and so on.  


So for all intents and purposes, the production environment was up and running and it was being used in a variety of ways throughout that period.


MR. WARREN:  If I look at the third item on the time line on that page, field force implementation, do I understand your evidence that field force implementation did not begin in April of 2004?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  I believe it began at least in its early stages at that point.


MR. WARREN:  My understanding ‑‑


MR. CHIOTTI:  There was no delay in the beginning of field force transformation.


MR. WARREN:  My understanding of your evidence, Mr. Chiotti, and we will get back to this in greater detail, is that field force transformation is now in the planning or implementation stage; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  In fact, it has progressed to the testing stage.


MR. WARREN:  So am I to understand that that time line, April '04 to January '05, is an accurate time line or should that time line be changed?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  That time line, in fact, has been changed and we filed an interrogatory response with the revised time line.


MR. WARREN:  We will get back to that later, Mr. Chiotti.  We don't need to deal with it in detail right now.  I promise you I will get back to that point.  


Field force operations, scheduled to begin, according to this, in April '05.  That time line has changed now.  The plan now is to begin in January of '06; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Here, again, the revised schedule for go-live for field force transformation has now been revised to January '06.


The creation of a production environment to operate that system when it does go live has also already occurred.  We have set that environment up.  We are using that environment, through the testing, as part of the testing processes that we're going through at this stage of the project.


MR. WARREN:  Members, I only have a brief couple of questions, and then it is probably an appropriate time.


I would like just to conclude today's session, panel, if you could give me just some numbers.


You tell me, in 2004, the amount in respect of EnVision that was close to rate base was how much?  If you don't have the numbers handy, perhaps you can think about them overnight and tell me in the morning.  Let me ask the question.  


I want the same numbers for 2005, and I would also like the O&M numbers for both 2004 and 2005.


MR. CHIOTTI:  We can definitely provide those.


MR. BATTISTA:  Shall we give those undertaking numbers?


MR. WARREN:  I'm not sure it is necessary, Mr. Battista.  The cross-examination will be continued tomorrow.  Now would be a sensible time, I think, Madam Chair, to break.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Thank you, panel.  We will see you again tomorrow and we will now break until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.
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